IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TAMARON HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 63,626

v.

2nd DCA Case Nos. 82-1594 and 82-1744

TAMARON UTILITIES, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S MAIN BRIEF

NOV 2 1983

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chie Deputy Clerk

DANIEL JOY 2055 Wood Street, Suite 200 Sarasota, Florida 33577 (813) 365-7240 Attorney for Petitioner

October 31, 1983

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

TAMARON UTILITIES, INC., the Respondent, hereafter TAMARON, operates a sewer system in Sarasota County, Florida, under a franchise granted by the Board of County Commissioners of Sarasota County on July 19, 1973. (See Appendix No. 1) On May 18, 1981, TAMARON applied to the Board of County Commissioners pursuant to the requirements of Sarasota County Ordinance 80-62 for an increase in rates and charges for sewer service. (Ibid.) The Sarasota Board of County Commissioners, hereafter BOARD, held public hearings, at which time it received testimony and evidence, and on November 24, 1981, adopted Resolution No. 81-344, setting rates and charges it found to be reasonable. (See Appendix No. 1)

Within the time of thirty days thereafter, TAMARON challenged Resolution 81-344 in the Circuit Court by petitioning for a Writ of Certiorari in Case No. 81-4029-CA-01. The Circuit Court, the Honorable Grissim H. Walker, Judge of the Circuit Court, presiding, entered an Order on TAMARON's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, stating

Section 8(e) of Sarasota County Ordinance No. 80-62, insofar as it purports to exclude reimbursement of depreciation on contributed properties owned by a utility as an operating expense, is invalid and violative of the due process and equal protection clauses of the Florida State Constitution and the United States Constitution, based upon the holdings in Southeastern Development & Utility Company Inc. v. Board of County Commissioners of Sarasota County, 398 So.2d 882 (2DCA 1981), State v. Hawkins, 364 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1978), and Westwood Lake, Inc. v. Dade County, 264 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1972). Therefore, the words

"excluding contributed property" contained in the fourth sentence of §8(e) are hereby stricken from the Ordinance; the Resolution No. 80-344 passed by the Sarasota Board of County Commissioners is hereby quashed, and this cause is remanded to the Sarasota Board of County Commissioners for further proceedings necessary for the passage of a new resolution establishing the rates and charges for services for Tamaron Utilities, Inc., pursuant to the provisions of Sarasota County Ordinance No. 80-62, as modified by this Order. [See Appendix No. 3]

The Order was dated April 23, 1982, and was entered by Judge Walker upon the acquiesence by a representative of the County Attorney's office who indicated that it [the County Attorney's office] would not object to the entry of the Order aforesaid. The Board of County Commissioners had not and did not authorize such a withdrawal of opposition to the challenge.

On May 3, 1982, the TAMARON HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.,

JACOB and GLADYS G. GWYNNE, and THEODORE and LULA I. WILDMAN,
hereafter HOMEOWNERS, moved for an Order permitting their intervention. These persons are users of the TAMARON sewer service.

The Court considered the matter on May 21, 1982, granted the
motion and adjudged that the Movants (HOMEOWNERS) were to have
the status as a party from May 3, 1982 forward, "so that their

Motion for Rehearing of this Court's Order of April 23, 1982, may
be heard." (See Appendix No. 3) That Motion was subsequently
heard, and on July 2, 1982, Judge Walker denied the Intervenors'
Motion for Rehearing, stating

[T]he Court is of the opinion that if it is proper to allow depreciation of CIAC property as an operating expense in setting rates to be charged by a utility, as was held in S. E. Development & Utility Company, Inc. v. Board of County Commissioners, 398 So.2d 882, it follows that an ordinance denying such an allowance is unconstitutional.

(See Appendix No. 5)

On July 7, 1982, the HOMEOWNERS noticed their appeal of Judge Walker's Orders dated April 23, 1982 and July 2, 1982. On July 26, 1982, the BOARD gave notice of its appeal of the Order rendered on July 2, 1982, denying the HOMEOWNERS' Motion for Rehearing. The two appeals were consolidated by the Second District Court of Appeal in its Order dated September 3, 1982, wherein it further ordered that the notices were to be treated as Petitions for Writs of Certiorari.

Following the filing of briefs and oral argument, the Second District Court of Appeal, in Cases No. 82-1594 and 82-1744, rendered its Opinion on February 23, 1983. The Court stated

[T]here is no constitutional requirement that a utility be allowed to build up a reserve fund from depreciation expenses. [See Appendix No. 6, p. 11] [Emphasis in original]

It then ruled that

Section 8(e) of County Ordinance No. 80-62 clearly does not allow CIAC depreciation to be treated as an operating expense. Neither does the Ordinance permit consideration of CIAC depreciation in the rate base calculation. Our reading of the Ordinance leads us to the

conclusion that it does not provide for the inclusion of CIAC depreciation in the rate base calculation by way of an add-back. If it did so, then we would be required to grant certiorari and quash the decision of the Circuit Court on this point. If it is improper to allow a utility to double-dip in its use of CIAC depreciation, it is equally improper to allow a regulatory body to completely prohibit or eliminate the use of CIAC depreciation in the ratemaking process.

The Circuit Court struck only a portion of the Ordinance. We, however, conclude that that is not sufficient and accordingly hold the entire Ordinance confiscatory and violative of the due process clauses of both the Florida and United States Constitutions.

We, therefore, affirm the Circuit Court, however, we do so not because the exclusion by a regulatory body of the CIAC depreciation as an operating expense is unconstitutional per se, we do so because it is improper to completely exclude the consideration of CIAC depreciation in the ratemaking process as we interpret Ordinance No. 80-62 as doing here. [Ibid., pp. 13-14] [emphasis added]

Both Petitioners moved for a rehearing and clarification.

On April 6, 1983, the District Court rendered its Order denying the HOMEOWNERS' Motion, but granting, in part, the BOARD's. The Second District Court deleted the first full paragraph on page 14, (the second of the paragraphs set out above), and inserted in lieu thereof the following:

The Circuit Court struck only certain words of Section 8(e) of the Ordinance. We, however, conclude that that is not sufficient and accordingly hold the entire section 8(e) confiscatory and violative of the due process clauses of both the Florida and United States Constitutions, and accordingly strike the entire section. [See Appendix No. 7] [emphasis added]

The HOMEOWNERS, in Case No. 63,626, and the County, in Case No. 63,646, petitioned this Court to accept jurisdiction. On October 10, 1983, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

TAMARON applied to the BOARD for and was awarded a rate increase. The ordinance under which the application was made was Sarasota County Ordinance 80-62. Section 8(e) of that Ordinance provides in principal part:

The Board has the duty and authority to determine and fix reasonable rates and charges that may be charged by any public utility for The Board shall determine and its services. investigate the actual original cost of the property of each public utility actually used and useful in public service, and shall keep a current record of the net investment of each utility in such property. The value as so determined by the Board [the Rate Base] shall be used for ratemaking purposes, less accrued depreciation, and shall not include any contributions in aid of construction or any goodwill or going concern value. The Board shall fix and determine a rate which allows for reimbursement of operating costs including depreciation on all properties, excluding contributed properties, and a fair and reasonable net return on the original cost of a system incurred by the person first dedicating it to public service, which shall not include contributions in aid of construction or customer contributions. [emphasis addedl (See Appendix No. 2)

The Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, TAMARON sought to have included as a reimbursable expense a depreciation allowance attributable to the amortization of assets contributed to it by developers and/or homeowners. Since TAMARON's inception to the date of the application for a rate increase, the utility had received in contributions \$575,727 in assets, principally of land, a collection system, pumping stations, and a treatment

plant. (See Appendix No. 8, p. 1) TAMARON's total assets equaled \$594,331. The investment, the origin of which is traceable to the owners of TAMARON, amounted to \$18,604. (Ibid.)

The BOARD determined that the gross revenue sufficient to reimburse the Utility for its reasonable operating costs plus permit it to earn a reasonable net return on the original cost of the system incurred by the entity first dedicating it to public service was \$90,583. TAMARON would have included in the required revenue an additional \$23,530 of "annual expense" attributable to the amortized depreciation of the \$575,727 of contributed assets. The BOARD refused to include that amount in the required revenue, but authorized TAMARON to include within the required revenue figure \$14,323 per year of expense money for repairs and maintenance of its assets. TAMARON's rate base is presently zero.

ARGUMENT

TAMARON UTILITIES IS NOT DEPRIVED OF ITS PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN IT IS AT ONCE PRECLUDED BY LAW FROM COLLECTING A DEPRECIATION EXPENSE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE AMORTIZATION OF CONTRIBUTED ASSETS WHEREIN IT [THE UTILITY] DOES NOT HAVE ACQUISITION COSTS AND SIMULTANEOUSLY PRECLUDED FROM INCLUDING ANY PORTION OF THE VALUE OF THOSE ASSETS IN THE RATE BASE ON WHICH IT IS ENTITLED TO EARN A REASONABLE RETURN.

The Second District Court of Appeal concluded that it is constitutionally improper to allow a regulatory body to prohibit or eliminate the use of CIAC depreciation in the ratemaking process. The only reason offered for the conclusion is that to do so results in the confiscation of the utility's assets. Your Appellants believe that the Lower Court erred by departing from the essential requirements of constitutional law as settled by the Supreme Court of the United States, by failing to properly apprehend the limited nature of the property interest a regulated utility has in property contributed to it for use in the operation of the utility.

The National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC), through its <u>Uniform System Accounts for Class A and B</u>

<u>Water Utilities 1976</u> classifies contributions in aid of construction as a liability (Account No. 271), utilized for investorowned water utilities, as credits for donations or contributions in cash, services or property from states, municipalities or other government agencies, individuals, and others for construction

purposes.1

Simply stated, contributed assets or CIAC are assets conveyed to a regulated utility by developers or utility patrons as a condition to access the utility's service, for which the utility does not have any acquisition costs. In the case of TAMARON, contributed assets represent 97% of all assets devoted to public service and providing sewer utility.

Applying the Lower Court's stated constitutional requirement to this class of assets, the Lower Court has enunciated a constitutional rule to the effect that a regulated utility is deprived of its property without due process of law when the enabling law, in this case Sarasota County Ordinance 80-62, prohibits the utility from at once including within its rate the annual amortization of the depreciation expense attributable to this class of properties, or in the alternative, permitting the utility to include contributed asset depreciation in its rate base.

While there has been a long line of cases dealing with the nature of the utility's interest in property dedicated to public service, there are only a few cases, to this writer's knowledge, which have considered in its narrowest terms the nature of a utility's property interest in contributions made by developers and/or utility users.

See National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners.
Uniform System of Accounts for Class A and B Water Utilities,
1976. National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners,
Washington, D. C. (1977) p. 62.

The Supreme Court of the United States, as early as 1908, wrestled with the issue of whether the Constitution of the United States requires that a utility be permitted to earn a return on the present market value of its assets. The constitutional issue concerned the nature of a utility's interest in property, which at base is the question in this case. In Knoxville v. Knoxville Water Company, 121 U.S. 1, 29 S.Ct. 148, 53 L.Ed. 731 (1908), and in United Railways & Electric Company v. West, 280 U.S. 234, 50 S.Ct. 123, 74 L.Ed. 390 (1930), the Court ruled that a utility had a constitutional right to have the value of the asset at the time the asset first became subject to regulation determined to be its property interest, irrespective of the utility's cost in the asset. By 1942, however, the Supreme Court reversed itself, rejecting the earlier decisions made in Knoxville and United In Federal Power Commission v. Natural Gas Pipeline Railways. Company of America, 315 U.S. 575, 62 S.Ct. 736, 86 L.Ed. 1037 (1942), the Supreme Court held that a utility is not unconstitutionally deprived of its property when it is refused the right to include within its rate base any amounts in excess of the utility's original cost in the assets. The Court held that the Constitution of the United States in general, and the due process provisions in particular, do not require that a utility be permitted to earn a return on the value of assets to which it has title when those assets first become subject to utility rate regulation. Only if a utility were denied the right to recoup actual costs would one be confronted with the deprivation or confiscation issue.

The Supreme Court broadened its Natural Gas Pipeline decision in the landmark decision, Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Company, 320 U.S. 591, 64 S.Ct. 281, 88 L.Ed. 333 (1954). both Hope Natural Gas and Natural Gas Pipeline, the utilities argued that the refusal by the Federal Power Commission to permit it to include within its rate base the assets on the basis of either its replacement costs or actual present value deprived the utility of property without due process of law. The Court rejected both arguments, stating that the purpose of an amortization allowance is to restore from current earnings the amount of service capacity of the utility consumed each year. The Court reasoned that even though the replacement costs, or the present value of the property, may be more than its actual cost to the utility, this theoretical accretive value does not represent a profit to the utility or a constitutionally protected property interest, since the property dedicated to the business, save for its salvage value, is destined by law or contract to be fully and exclusively devoted to public service. The Court concluded that to require that assets be calculated into ratemaking procedures in excess of the utility's actual, legitimate costs would be to permit or require the inclusion of an improper expense, and would contribute to additional profit over and above a fair and reason-This, the Court concluded, would unjustly penalize consumers and result in a windfall to the utility. From Hope Natural Gas Company, supra.:

Only a word need be added respecting depletion and depreciation. We held in the Natural Gas Pipeline Company case that there was no constitutional requirement "that the owner who embarks in a wasting-asset business of limited life shall receive at the end more than he has put into it." 315 U.S., p. 593, 86 L.Ed. 1053, 62 S.Ct. 736. The Circuit Court of Appeals did not think that that rule was applicable here because Hope was a utility required to continue its service to the public, and not scheduled to end its business on a date certain, as was stipulated to be true of the Natural Gas Pipeline Company. But that distinction is quite immaterial. The ultimate exhaustion of the supply is inevitable in the case of all natural gas companies. Moreover, this Court recognized in Lindheimer v. Illinois Bell Telephone Company, 292 U.S. 151, 78 L.Ed. 1182, 54 S.Ct. 658, supra, the propriety of basing annual depreciation on costs. By such a procedure the utility is made whole and the integrity of its investment maintained. No more is required. We cannot approve the contrary holding of United Railway & Electric Company v. West, 280 U.S. 234, 253, 254, 74 L.Ed. 390, 410, 411, 50 S.Ct. Since there are no constitutional 123. requirements more exacting than the standards of the act, a rate order which conforms to the latter does not run afoul of the former. [320 U.S. at p. 606-607] [emphasis added]

What makes a natural gas regulation case analogous to a regulated sewer utility case is that by law or contract the contributed assets are dedicated to public service for so long as said assets are functional.

The Lower Court determined a constitutionally protected property interest in contributed assets. This conclusion is directly contrary to the rule enunciated by the Supreme Court of the United States which limited constitutional protection to actual cost. That rule notwithstanding, the Lower Court mandated

that a utility be authorized to collect a depreciation expense on the contributed assets, or to permit it to include contributed property in the rate base by way of an add-back, without regard to costs. (See Appendix No. 6, pp. 13-14). Unfortunately, the Lower Court failed to state any reasons why the value of contributed assets are constitutionally protected, or why the rule articulated in Hope Natural Gas is not satisfied when actual costs are zero. Under the facts here, TAMARON is not free to cart off the contributed assets or divert them from dedicated use. Therefore, it is quite impossible to conceptualize the property interest of the utility which the Lower Court concludes is constitutionally protectable. Similarly, it is difficult to ascertain just what utility property is being taken when constitutional protection is limited to actual legitimate costs and there were not any costs associated with acquisition.

The Supreme Courts of at least three states have dealt specifically with the issue of the nature of a regulated utility's property interest in and to contributed assets. The highest courts of Missouri, North Carolina and Virginia have each rejected the conclusion reached by the Lower Court. The case most analogous to the one <u>sub judice</u> is <u>Princess Anne Utilities Corporation v.</u>
Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission,

The Lower Court allowed in a footnote that, "We do not mean to suggest that an add-back is the only manner in which CIAC depreciation may be considered in the rate base calculation." The Lower Court did not, however, offer any other specific alternatives which would satisfy the mandate.

179 SE2d 714 (Va. 1971). In that case, the SCC denied the utility's application for a rate increase. The utility appealed, claiming that the rates fixed by the Commission were unreasonable and confiscatory. The grounds for so claiming were that the SCC, under Virginia Statutes, rejected the utility's position that contributions in aid of construction should be included in the rate base and depreciation thereof allowed. The Virginia Court rejected the utility's position, and found that the rate awarded to the utility was not confiscatory.

As TAMARON has in this case, Princess Anne argued that because the facilities are owned by the utility, it can make no difference from where the facilities or the money to construct them comes. The Supreme Court of the Commonwealth of Virginia stated at p. 716:

In excluding contributions in aid of construction from the rate base, the Commission followed, and we think properly so, what is the near universal rule in public utility rate cases. As Professor Priest says in his work, Principles of Public Utility Regulation, Volume I, Ch. 4, p. 177, "Court and Commission decisions holding that contributions in aid of utility construction must be excluded from the rate base have been so uniform as probably not to require detailed citation."

But aside from the fact that the just cited rule is one generally followed, there is another consideration prompting its adoption. The rule is based on principles of fairness. It is inequitable to require utility customers to pay a return on property for which they, and not the utility, have paid. City of Hagerstown v. Public Service Commission. 217 Md. 101, 112, 141 A.2d 699, 704 (1958).

The Court determined that it did not make any difference whether the contributions were made directly by the patrons or by the developer

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