W. 0.0A

017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA-

TAMARON HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

TAMARON UTILITIES, INC.,

Respondent.

NOV 21 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 63,626

2nd DCA Case Nos. 82-1594 and 82-1744

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TAMARON UTILITIES, INC.

> M. Joseph Lieb, Jr. SYPRETT, MESHAD, RESNICK & LIEB, P.A. Post Office Box 1238 Sarasota, Florida 33578 (813) 365-7171 Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

ORDINANCE 80-62, INSOFAR AS IT FAILS TO MAKE ALLOWANCE FOR DEPRECIATION ON CONTRIBUTED PROPERTY AT ANY STAGE OF THE RATE MAKING PROCESS, VIOLATES CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER THE LAW.

Respondent obviously has no quarrel with the County's prefatory statement that generally a duly enacted ordinance comes before this court clothed with a presumption of validity. Courts should ordinarily assume that the lawmakers who compose and enact legislation have acted properly and the legislation they pass, based upon competent and substantial expertise and evidence. In the present case, however, the ordinance in question was enacted not by the County in its general legislative process, but rather solely in an effort to comply with a ruling of the circuit court which was subsequently quashed on appeal. (See <u>Southeastern</u>, <u>supra</u>. P. 883.) Therefore, since the <u>basis</u> for the general presumption of validity does not exist in the present case, the ordinance challenged should not enjoy that presumption.

Both the circuit court and the Second District Court of Appeals have determined that Ordinance 80-62 is unconstitutional for the reason that it fails to permit depreciation on CIAC property to be considered at any stage of the rate making procedure. An examination of the relevant cases clearly demonstrates that the lower court's decisions are correct and should not be disturbed.

Petitioners argue, as they did in the courts below, that

-6-

the United States Supreme Court has already determined the issue presented in this case. See Lindheimer v. Illinois <u>Bell Telephone Company</u>, 292 U.S. 15 (1933), <u>United Railways</u> <u>& Electric Company v. West</u>, 280 U.S. 234, 50 S.Ct. 123, 74 L.Ed. 390 (1930); <u>Federal Power Commission v. Natural Gas</u> <u>Pipeline Company of America</u>, 315 U.S. 575, 62 S.Ct. 736, 86 L.Ed. 1037 (1942); and <u>Federal Power Commission v. Hope</u> <u>Natural Gas Company</u>, 320 U.S. 591, 64 S.Ct. 281, 88 L.Ed. 333 (1944). A review of these cases, however, reveals this argument to be incorrect.

The case of <u>Federal Power Commission v. Natural Gas</u> <u>Pipeline of America, supra.</u>, involved the issue of how to amortize assets that were <u>already used</u> at the time the utility became subject to utility rate regulation for the purpose of computing a rate base. The utility company argued that the amortization base should be computed on the basis of reproduction costs at the time the rate base was to be established. The Court, however, held that it was not confiscatory to have the amortization base reflect the depreciated value of the company's actual investment and not the reproduction costs. The Supreme Court was dealing with a problem that simply is totally incongruous with the problem situation.

In Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Company, supra., the Supreme Court also dealt with the proper rate base calculations for a utility. The regulatory commission estab-

-7-

lished a rate base which represented the actual legitimate cost of the company's interstate property, less accumulated depletion and depreciation. The Supreme Court again held that this was a proper measure of the rate base rather than the reproduction or replacement costs. Again, the case involved a determination of rate base and not how depreciation on contributed property should be treated.

None of these cases deal with, or even <u>mention</u>, the proper treatment of depreciation on <u>contributed property</u>, and therefore neither the holdings nor the principles discussed in those cases are relevant to the issue in this case.

To accept Petitioner's argument that these Supreme Court cases should be interpreted to stand for the proposition that a utility has no protected property rights in contributed property, would necessarily lead to the absurd conclusion that a utility would be entitled to no compensation in the event its property is taken by virtue of eminent domain proceedings.

Petitioner's narrow reading of these cases, which do not deal with contributed property, as a basis for the argument that depreciation is designed solely to restore to the owner his "out of pocket" investment in the asset consumed, and that since the utility has paid nothing for the property contributed to it, it is not entitled to depreciation, ignores the true reason for allowing depreciation

-8-

on property for rate making purposes. That is, to provide a reserve for the replacement of the property as it wears out.

In <u>Lindheimer</u>, <u>supra</u>., the Court was faced with the task of reviewing the value of property utilized by the utility in interstate and intrastate business and whether or not the return allowed on that property in the utility's rates was sufficient. Although the utility was not comprised of any contributed property, and therefore that issue was not addressed by the Court, the Court did recognize the necessity of allowing a depreciation factor on the property used in public service to allow for its replacement as it wears out. As stated by the Court in describing the term "depreciation" as used for utility rate making purposes:

> "Broadly speaking, depreciation is the loss, not restored by current maintenance, which is due to all factors causing the ultimate retirement of the property. These factors embrace wear and tear, decay, inadequacy, and obsolescence. Annual depreciation is the loss which takes place in a year." p.167.

and then at p.173:

"The distinction between expenses for current maintenance and depreciation is theoretically clear. Depreciation is the expense occasioned by the using up of physical property employed as fixed capital; current maintenance, as the expense occasioned in keeping the physical property in the condition requred for continued use during its life."

Since all types of physical property are subject to wear and tear, regardless of how it is acquired, Petitioner's

-9-

argument that a depreciation allowance is not required for contributed property is not sound.

Homeowners next cites this Court to cases from other jurisdictions for the proposition that the issue in this case has already been decided in other states, and therefore this Court should follow that authority. See <u>Princess Anne Utilities</u> <u>Corporation v. Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State</u> <u>Corporation Commission</u>, 179 SE2d 714 (Va. 1971); <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Martigney Creek v. Public Service Commission</u>, 357 SW2d 388 (Mo. 1976); <u>State of North Carolina ex rel. Utilities</u> <u>Commission, et al. v. Heater Utilities, Inc.</u>, 219 SE2d 56 (N.C. 1975); <u>City of Hagerstown v. Public Service Commission</u>, 217 Md. 101, 112, 141 A2d 699, 704 (1958).

First of all, in reviewing the cases cited by Homeowners, it is impossible to determine whether the issue before those courts was similar to the issue in this case since the entire rate setting process was not being reviewed by those courts. In the present case, the lower courts found Ordinance 80-62 to be defective for the reason that it requires a rate setting procedure which prohibits an allowance for depreciation at any stage of the rate making process. As stated by the Second District Court of Appeals in its opinion at p. 327:

> "We, therefore, affirm the circuit court. However, we do so not because the exclusion by a regulatory body of CIAC depreciation as an operating expense is uncontitutional per se. We do so because it is improper to completely exclude the consideration of CIAC depreciation

> > -10-

in the rate-making process as we interpret Ordinance No. 80-62 as doing here."

There are numerous ways a utility regulatory board may take into consideration depreciation on contributed property, including a "reserve contingency account" in addition to including it in the rate base or as an operating expense, and therefore those cases, at least as reported, do not address the issue of the constitutionality of an ordinance which totally ignores contributed property in setting a utility's authorized rates.

Furthermore, the cases cited by Homeowners recognize that other jurisdictions have decided the issues before those courts differently. As stated by the Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia in the <u>Princess Anne</u>, <u>supra</u>., case, at p. 717 of that opinion:

> "[3] The question whether the Commission properly excluded a depreciation allowance on the contributed property is more difficult. This is so because there is a sharp split of authority on the subject, and valid arguments can be advanced to support either view.

"We have examined numerous utility rate cases and have concluded that where depreciation is allowed, the rationale is that since the utility owns and must ultimately replace the property, it should be entitled to a reasonable depreciation allowance as part of its annual operating expenses to build up a reserve against the day when replacement must occur."

Some cases from those "other jurisdictions" include Re Central Light & Power Co., 37 P.U.R. (n.s.) 106, 114 (N.D.Pub.Serv.Comm'n. 1940) and <u>DuPage Utility Co. v.</u> <u>Illinois Commerce Com'n.</u>, 267 NE2d 662 (Sup.Ct. Ill. 1971). In approving the depreciation allowance made in <u>DuPage</u>, <u>supra.</u>, the Supreme Court of Illinois recognized:

> "[7, 8] Finally, the intervenors contend that the Commission, in computing operating expense, improperly allowed DuPage a depreciation rate of approximately 1.6% of the depreciable plant. The propriety of allowing a reasonable depreciation deduction on the property of a utility is not dependent upon the source of funds for the original construction of the facility. (emphasis added) (Cf. Langan v. West Keansburg Water Co., 51 N.J. Super. 41, 143 A.2d 185.) DuPage will be required to replace from time to time properties which have become obsolete or whose useful lives have expired, in order to sustain service to its customers. This being the case, DuPage is entitled to a reasonable depreciation deduction on its entire plant in service for the purpose of computing its operating expenses. Intervenors' contention that current maintenance will continually extend the life of the system begs the question since depreciation by definition includes only that loss which cannot be restored by current maintenance. See Lindheimer v. Illinois Bell Telephone Co. (1934), 292 U.S. 151, 167, 54 S.Ct. 658, 78 L.Ed. 1182."

It should be noted that that Court's opinion cites the <u>Lindheimer</u> decision, relied upon by Petitioners as authority for its decision. It should also be noted that the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review of the decision at 404 U.S. 832.

The cases cited by Homeowners come from jurisdictions which adhere to the theory that the purpose of a depreciation allowance should be limited to allowing a utility to recoup its actual investment in the property being depreciated. Florida, on the other hand, has consistently recognized that depreciation is not limited to the recovery of investment theory, at least in the area of utility rate making, and should also reflect the deterioration of equipment which inevitably will have to be replaced by the utility. As stated by this Court in <u>Westwood Lake, Inc. v. Dade County</u>, 264 So.2d 7 (1972), at page 11:

> "...to disregard arbitrarily that part of a utility's equipment because it was "contributed" and to allow no recognition of its replacement ignores reality; it would only mean a raise in rates later on when it became necessary to replace it. A depreciation loss factor may be proper if necessary to prevent a resulting unfair rate, because its purpose is to save against loss and this must be anticipated. The consideration is not confined to a "recovery of investment" application, as the county has treated it. It cannot be eliminated entirely from the present rate base if it prevents a fair return. What if an entire utility were made up of such "contributions"? Then is it to be said that no part of the plant is to be considered in the rate base? The utility would not long survive on such basis." (emphasis added)

In the case of <u>State v. Hawkins</u>, 364 So.2d 723 (1978), this Court was called upon to review the procedure of the Public Service Commission which allowed the utility to recover a depreciation allowance by way of both an "addback" of accumulated depreciation into the utility's rate base as well as collection of depreciation as an operating expense. The Court concluded that this procedure, in allowing the utility to take a "double dip" of depreciation allowance, was improper. The Court was careful to point out, however, that its opinion was not to be interpreted as conflicting with the previous opinion in Westwood Lake, and instead took the opportunity to once again reaffirm its previous decision by stating on p. 725 of its opinion:

"The Commission also properly allows the utility to include the accumulated depreciation of the facilities purchased from investment and CIAC funds in the rate base calculation. In this way the utility is provided with the case necessary to replace the property as it wears out. Therefore, the total dollar amount of investment and CIAC property stays constant over time, as does the rate base. This is as it should be, since the ratepayers are paying for the cost of using up the equipment which provides services."

In 1981, in the case of <u>Citizens v. Florida Public</u> <u>Service Commission</u>, 399 So.2d 9 (1st DCA), the court reviewed a rate setting procedure which allowed an "add back" of accumulated depreciation into the rate base. Public counsel representing the citizens, argued that this was the same practice condemned by the Supreme Court in <u>State v.</u> <u>Hawkins</u>. The court disagreed, however, in noting that although the "add back" was allowed, depreciation on contributed property as an operating expense was not, and therefore the "double dipping" disallowed in <u>Hawkins</u> was not present.

After citing both the <u>Westwood Lake</u> and <u>Hawkins</u> cases as authority for its opinion that the allowance of the depreciation reserve was proper, the court noted:

> "Stated differently, depreciation is not merely a measure of the recovery of investment; rather it also reflects deterioration of equipment which, inevitably, will have to be replaced. Here, by utilizing the PSC's formula for rate base the utility can make provision today for the replacement of property as it is retired from service."

> > -14-

In <u>Southeastern</u>, <u>supra</u>., the district court, in reviewing Sarasota County Ordinance 72-64, before it was amended to specifically prohibit depreciation on contributed property as an operating expense, held that such allowance was proper. At p. 884 of the opinion, the Court stated:

> "...because a depreciation allowance is necessary to accumulate a fund for replacement of not only the portion of the plant provided by the utility but also the portion contributed in aid of construction. Both the Board's consultant and Southeastern's consultant testified that if the Board did not allow Southeastern to include depreciation on CIAC property as an operating expense, it would have to allow it to be recovered in some other way. Finally, the supreme court has sanctioned including depreciation on CIAC property as an operating expense for utilities for this purpose." Westwood Lake, Inc. v. Dade County, 264 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1972). See State v. Hawkins, 364 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1978). (emphasis added)

As recognized by the district court in this case, a review of the decisions from this state reveals,

"...three principles inherent in the utility rate-making process are clear. One, CIAC depreciation is generally, and should be, considered at some point in the rate-making process. Two, while a utility constitutionally must be allowed the right to recoup its investment and its expenses, there is no constitutional requirement that a utility be allowed to do so by maintaining a reserve fund using depreciation expenses [as opposed to allowing this recovery in another fashion]. Three, a utility may permit an add-back of CIAC depreciation into the rate base calculation or it may treat CIAC depreciation as an operating expense, but it cannot do both."

The conclusion that depreciation on CIAC property cannot be ignored in establishing a utility's rates, is logical and necessary. Pursuant to Ordinance 80-62, Tamaron, being wholly comprised of contributed property, earns no return on any investment and is also prohibited from collecting any depreciation expense on <u>any</u> of its property. Its recoverable expenses are limited to repair and maintenance. When equipment must be replaced, there will be no reserve to be utilized by the utility for this purpose and the utility will simply malfunction or cease serving its customers. While the situation confronted by Tamaron may be more compelling because it is a zero rate base utility, the inequities of the ordinance apply to all utilities which use contributed property, only to differing degrees.

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